ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
The Honorable Gary E. Clary, Trial Judge
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000885

WILLIE J. RICHARDSON,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Petitioner. **RECEIVED**
MAY 28 2019
SC Court of Appeals

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
S.C. Bar No. 103282
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the post-conviction relief court erred in finding that Respondent had satisfied his burden in proving that Trial Counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to interview and call alibi witnesses whose testimony would have been cumulative at best and harmful at worst and for failing to introduce photographs whose existence was not known until after trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Willie J. Richardson, is incarcerated with the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to the Lexington County Clerk of Court's orders of commitment. Respondent was indicted during the March 1998 term of the Lexington County Grand Jury for murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (1998-GS-32-1242). Hervery B. O. Young, Esquire, represented Respondent. Samuel R. Hubbard, III, and August Gustav Swarat, II, of the Eleventh Circuit Solicitor's Office prosecuted the case.

On April 13, 2000, Respondent appeared before the Honorable Gary E. Clary and a jury, and was found guilty after a jury trial. He was sentenced to life imprisonment for murder and five years' incarceration for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Respondent's behalf and an appeal was perfected. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Respondent's conviction and sentence. State v. Richardson, Op. No. 2002-UP-377 (filed May 29, 2002). The Remittitur was issued on July 9, 2002.

Respondent's PCR Cases

Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief on March 7, 2003. An evidentiary hearing was held on December 12, 2005. By Order filed March 3, 2006, the Honorable Clyde N. Davis, Jr., denied and dismissed the application with prejudice. On or about March 28, 2006, Respondent filed a *pro se* Notice of Appeal. By Order of Dismissal dated June 1, 2006, the Supreme Court of South Carolina dismissed Respondent's appeal due to Respondent's failure to comply with the filing procedures found in the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules. The Remittitur was issued on June 29, 2006.

Respondent filed applications for post-conviction relief on two more occasions (2006-CP-32-2572 and 2007-CP-32-0838) because multiple of Respondent's PCR attorneys had failed to appeal the denial of Respondent's first PCR application. Eventually, an appeal was filed on Respondent's behalf by Appellate Defender LaNelle Durant. By an order dated January 13, 2012, the South Carolina Supreme Court vacated the Order of Dismissal signed by Judge Davis in 2003-CP-32-0927 and the subsequent PCR orders issued in Applicant's second and third PCR cases, and remanded for a new hearing on Respondent's first PCR application (2003-CP-32-0927). The remittitur was sent January 30, 2012.

Remanded PCR Hearing

A hearing was held on January 22, 2014, in Lexington County before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons. Respondent was present and represented by C. Rauch Wise, Esquire. Assistant Attorney General Mary Williams represented the State. Respondent's trial counsel, Herverly Young, Esquire, testified. Also testifying were Respondent, Ernest Richardson, Greg Huge, and Michelle Richardson. Respondent argued that Young was ineffective for failing to investigate and call Huge and Ernest and Michelle Richardson as witnesses at his trial.

By an order dated November 24, 2014, Judge Gibbons granted Respondent's application for post-conviction relief. The State filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e). By an order dated April 8, 2016, Judge Gibbons denied the State's motion.

The State timely filed a notice of appeal. The State filed its Petition for Writ of Certiorari on May 24, 2017. Respondent filed its Return on July 24, 2017. The Supreme Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals by Order filed October 30, 2017. The Court of Appeals granted certiorari by Order filed January 25, 2019, and directed further briefing. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact receive great deference during appellate review and will be upheld if "any evidence of probative value" exists in the record to support the lower court's findings. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). The findings of the PCR court will not be upheld if not supported by probative evidence. Holland v. State, 322 S.C. 111, 470 S.E.2d 378 (1996); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court erred in finding that Respondent satisfied his burden of proving that Trial Counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to interview and call alibi witnesses whose testimony would have been cumulative at best and harmful at worst and for failing to introduce photographs into evidence whose existence was not known until after trial.

Summary

Trial Counsel called as a witness at trial the only alibi witness of whom he had been made aware by Respondent who was willing to testify on Respondent's behalf. Respondent's alibi witnesses at the PCR hearing presented testimony ranging from cumulative to harmful to the alibi testimony that was presented on Respondent's behalf at trial, and none of the alibi testimony at trial or the PCR hearing supported a complete alibi. Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to use as evidence photographs that Trial Counsel and even Respondent himself did not know existed until years after the trial.

Background

Respondent was convicted of murdering Alfred Jones, who was shot three times during a bar fight that occurred in the early hours of August 13, 1995. Testimony from Respondent's trial revealed that Respondent and his group of friends and acquaintances arrived at the bar between 1:35AM and 2:00AM. App. 187, ll. 16-17. The fight leading up to the killing occurred between 2:30AM to 2:45AM. Respondent's main defense at trial was an alibi defense, wherein he asserted that he was not in Lexington County at the time of the killing, but was at his sister's house in Brooklyn, New York for a family gathering to celebration of the birthdays of Greg Huge and Michelle Richardson, his brother and sister respectively. App. 440. Respondent testified that Huge's birthday was on August 14 and that Michelle Richardson's birthday was on August 15. App. 441. He testified that, prior to his attending the birthday party, he flew to New York on July 20, 1995, to attend a funeral for a close friend. App. 440, ll. 19-21. Respondent testified that, on

the night of August 12, he arrived at the party at about 9:30PM and stayed until about 2:30AM on the morning of August 13. App. 441, ll. 9-13. He further testified that his sister, niece, brother, nephew, children, his brother's wife, and his sister's children were all present at the birthday party. App. 443, ll. 9-12.

On cross examination, Respondent could not remember the exact day of the party, testifying that it was either on Friday, August 11, or Saturday, August 12. App. 451. He then testified that the party was on Saturday, August 12, because he was notified of the killing on the day after the party. App. 451, ll. 7-10. Respondent testified that his family called his then-fiancé, Aletha Gaymon, to notify Respondent that a detective had called and wanted to discuss the killing with Respondent. App. 451, l. 11 – 452, l. 453, l. 4.

Respondent further testified that his parents traveled to Lexington County a week after the killing to find out what was happening, but that they did not tell any law enforcement officer that Respondent was at a birthday party at the time of the killing. App. 455, ll. 16-23. Respondent testified that his parents went to the Lexington County Sheriff's Department and waited inside to talk to someone. App. 455. He testified that his father got frustrated with the wait and went outside, and that law enforcement officers surrounded him and drew their weapons, possibly because they mistakenly believed that Respondent's father was Respondent. App. 457, l. 20 – 458, l. 4. He testified that his parents had the opportunity to talk to law enforcement but left after guns were drawn. App. 459, ll. 6-22. Respondent further testified that neither he nor his parents told Detective Frier about the birthday party in New York. App. 470, ll. 15 – 471, l. 17. When asked if any family member who attended the birthday party contacted the Sheriff's Department, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, a news outlet, or the Solicitor's Office to say that Respondent was at the birthday party in New York at the time of the killing in

Lexington County, Respondent testified that his parents came to Lexington to find out what was going on and "let them know where [Respondent] was at", but he did not identify any family member had told anyone that Respondent was at a birthday party at the time of the killing. App. 463, l. 20 – 464, l. 6. Respondent further testified that he never made an attempt to turn himself in to law enforcement or talk with Detective Frier about the case. App. 475, ll. 3-9.

Respondent testified at the PCR hearing that his trial date was moved from April 17, 2000, to April 10, 2000, and as a result, only his mother and younger brother, Ernest Richardson, were able to attend his trial, and that only his mother testified. App. 689, l. 5 – 690, l. 14.

Respondent's mother, Sally Richardson, testified at trial on Respondent's behalf. She testified that she was at the birthday party for the entire night and that she saw Respondent arrive around 10:00 PM on August 12, and last saw him around 12:00 to 12:30 AM on August 13. She testified that she never disclosed information concerning Respondent's alibi to anyone from law enforcement because "[n]o one asked." App. 480, l. 24 – 481, l. 1.

Although the PCR court stated in its Order Denying Rule 59(e) Motion that Respondent's sister, Michelle Richardson, did not testify at the PCR hearing, she did in fact so testify. App. 724-33, 745. She testified that either her mother or father told her about coming to Lexington County to testify at Respondent's trial on April 17, 2000. App. 725, l. 21 – 726, l. 1. She testified that neither Hervery Young, Esquire ("Trial Counsel") nor Trial Counsel's investigator contacted her about her testifying at trial. App. 726, ll. 15-19. She further testified that she was planning on attending the trial until she learned that it had been rescheduled for an earlier date. App. 726, ll. 9-13. She testified that, if she had testified at the trial, she would have testified that Respondent was at her house for the birthday party. App. 726, ll. 20-23. She testified that the party started at 2:00-3:00PM on August 12, 1995. App. 732, l. 25 – 733, l. 1.

Ernest Richardson testified at the remanded PCR hearing. He testified that he is seventeen years younger than Respondent and that he had attended the trial with his mother. App. 708, ll. 4, 9-16. He testified that he never talked to Trial Counsel. App. 708, ll. 19-20. At the remanded PCR hearing, Ernest was shown the photographs from the party and testified that they were taken in August "of '95 or something like that." App. 710, ll. 1-3. He testified that his mother and Respondent are in the photographs from the party. App. 710, l. 16 – 711, l. 7. Ernest testified that his older brother, Greg Huge, was not in the photographs, and that he could not remember if Huge was at the party. App. 711, l. 15. Ernest further testified that he would have brought the photographs to the trial if someone had told him to bring them. App. 711, l. 24 – 712, l. 1. App. 715, ll. 15-18. He testified that the time of the party was around midday on August 12, 1995, and that it could have lasted until 1:00 AM on the following day. App. 715, ll. 23-25.

Huge testified at the remanded PCR hearing. He testified that he was in New York on August 12 and 13, 1995, to celebrate his and others' birthdays. App. 718, ll. 2-23. He testified that he has no doubt that Respondent was at that party. App. 720, ll. 21-23. He testified that he never talked to Trial Counsel or an investigator about this case and was never notified about a trial date. App. 721, ll. 5-13. Huge further testified that he arrived at the party at about 3:30 PM on August 12, 1995, but he was not sure when Respondent arrived. App. 722, ll. 11-16. He testified that he left the party at about 10:30 PM the same day. App. 722, ll. 19-22.

During Respondent's remanded PCR hearing, Respondent's trial counsel, Herverly Young testified. Trial Counsel testified that, from the beginning of his representation of Respondent, Respondent maintained that he was not in South Carolina at the time of the murder but was actually in New York. App. 654, l. 24 – 655, l. 5. He testified that Respondent told him that he went to New York for a funeral and then a family birthday party. App. 655, ll. 6-15. Trial

Counsel indicated that he had a list of people who would help establish Respondent's alibi and that he gave it to his private investigator, Dave McDougal, so that they could locate as many of the people as possible. App. 658, ll. 15-21. McDougal died one week before Respondent's remanded PCR hearing. Trial Counsel testified that McDougal gave him written reports after contacting the witnesses before Respondent's trial but also that these reports would be in his file that his former office was unable to locate. App. 669, ll. 4-6; 670, ll. 9-16.

Trial Counsel testified that Respondent and Respondent's mother testified at trial, and that he had anticipated having Gaymon and Respondent's sister testify as well. App. 656, ll. 14-16. He testified that Respondent's sister was not able to attend the trial because she could not afford to travel. App. 656, ll. 16-19. He testified that he tried to get funds to pay for her travel but there was another issue related to child care that prevented her from attending the trial. App. 656, ll. 20-22. He testified that these particular witnesses were cooperative in talking to him. App. 656, l. 25. Trial Counsel testified that he was never able to locate Gaymon because Respondent did not have contact information for her. App. 657, ll. 4-6. Trial Counsel testified that every time he talked with Respondent about his contacting the potential witnesses, Respondent told him to contact his mother to find out how to get in touch with them. App. 667, ll. 14-16. He testified that he also relied on Respondent's mother to give him contact information for Respondent's sister and girlfriend. App. 657, ll. 7-9. Trial Counsel testified that Respondent's sister was "adamant that she wasn't able to come" to Respondent's trial, and he added that "no one that was talked to in New York was coming voluntarily." App. 657, ll. 10-14. Trial Counsel testified that he was in contact mostly with Respondent's mother and sister because he was trying to arrange for the sister's transportation to Respondent's trial. App. 657, ll. 19-23.

At the PCR hearing, Respondent entered exhibits consisting of five pictures that were alleged to have been taken at the birthday party in New York on August 12-13 in 1995. App. 664, ll. 13-16. Supp App. 1-7. Notably, nothing in the photographs confirms what date the photographs were taken. Supplemental App. 3-7. When asked about the photographs and if they were available at an earlier date, Respondent simply responded that "no attorney never, ever asked me about no pictures or nothing." Ernest Richardson testified that he had recently found the photographs in a scrapbook in a family member's home. App. 705, ll. 2-3. Ms. Richardson testified that the photographs depict the party at her house and include Respondent, Ernest, and their mother. App. 727, ll. 7-22. Trial Counsel testified that he could not recall whether they had photographs of the party or whether they were in his possession, but added that Respondent probably did mention them. App. 658, ll. 1-4. Trial Counsel testified that he recalls that Respondent had dreadlocks at the time of trial, and that Respondent was shown on the photographs without dreadlocks. App. 670, ll. 3-8.

The PCR Court granted Respondent's PCR application, finding that Trial Counsel was ineffective when he failed to interview Ernest Richardson and Greg Huge and failed to give an adequate explanation as to why he did not call these witnesses in support of Respondent's alibi at trial. App. 740. The PCR Court found that there was a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different had the alibi witnesses been interviewed and called at trial and had the photographs from the PCR hearing been presented as exhibits during the trial. App. 743.

Analysis

Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to interview and call certain alibi witnesses at trial because Trial Counsel's performance was not deficient, the witnesses would not have aided in an alibi, and because there was overwhelming evidence of Respondent's guilt.

Trial Counsel's Performance

Trial Counsel was not deficient in his performance as he undertook a reasonable investigation given the very limited information that he received from Respondent and Respondent's family. When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Courts presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

"[C]riminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case." Walker v. State, 397 S.C. 226, 235, 723 S.E.2d 610, 615 (Ct. App. 2012). Before the trial started, the State asked for clarification on Respondent's notice of alibi, and Trial Counsel responded that he would be relying on the notice of alibi filed

by Respondent while Respondent was a *pro se* litigant before the appointment of Trial Counsel. See App. 71-72. The only witnesses listed on the notice of alibi were Respondent's mother (Sally Richardson), girlfriend (Aletha Gaymon), and Angela Cole. App. 72, ll. 1-20. This is consistent with Respondent's testimony in the PCR hearing that he only submitted the names of these three alibi witnesses for his trial. App. 697, l. 24 – 699, l. 5. When asked to verify that he did not give any other names of alibi witnesses to the trial court, Respondent was non-responsive, stating "I was dodging at the time." App. 699, ll. 8-13. At the remanded PCR hearing, Trial Counsel testified that there were three alibi witnesses in Respondent's case—Respondent's mother, sister, and girlfriend—but that only Respondent's mother testified at the trial. App. 565, ll. 14-15.

Trial Counsel worked closely with his private investigator, Dave McDougal, in an attempt to locate as many people as possible for Respondent's trial. App. 658, ll. 15-21. Trial Counsel testified that he was never able to locate Respondent's girlfriend, Aletha Gaymon, because Respondent did not have her contact information. App. 657, ll. 4-6. Because Respondent did not know how to locate this alibi witness, Trial Counsel could not rely upon her testimony in Respondent's defense. App. 666, ll. 14-16. Even the police were unable to locate Angela Cole after making an initial contact with her during their investigation. App. 323, ll. 1-7. Trial Counsel also went to great lengths to ensure that Respondent's sister could attend the trial, even trying to get funds to pay for her airline travel. App. 656, ll. 20-21. Due to no fault of Trial Counsel, it became clear that Michelle Richardson was "adamant" that she would not be able to come to the hearing and no one from New York would come voluntarily. App. 657, l. 11-14.

Regarding the photographs that are alleged to show Respondent at the party, Trial Counsel could not recall at the remanded PCR hearing, almost fourteen years after his representation of Respondent, whether they had any photographs. App. 658, ll. 1-4. Given the

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