THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Hon. Gary E. Clary, Trial Judge
Hon. Brian M. Gibbons, Post Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000885

Willie J. Richardson, Respondent,

vs.

State of South Carolina, Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUL 29 2019

SC Court of Appeals

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
S.C. Bar No 06188
(864) 229-5010

Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Willie J. Richardson agrees with the Statement of the Case as set forth in the Brief of the Petitioner.

Argument

Question Presented

The Post Conviction Relief judge did not err in finding Respondent satisfied his burden of proving Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to interview and call the alibi witnesses who testified at the Post Conviction Relief hearing.

“Under the proper standard of review, the appellate court’s ‘view’ must be limited to whether there is probative evidence to support the PCR Court’s factual findings. Ordinarily, the appellate court is not free to make its own factual findings.” *Buckson v. State*, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018). The Post Conviction Relief judge had ample evidence from which he could conclude that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to call the alibi witnesses and introducing the related exhibits. First, it should be noted that trial counsel testified he knew of witnesses who were not called to testify. He stated concerning his investigator, “I don’t recall who he talked to and things of that nature, but the gist of it was that a number of people were able to establish that Mr. Richardson was in New York.” App. at 659, ll 4-7. He stated he talked to Greg Huge, the brother who testified at the PCR hearing. Trial counsel testified:

Q. (By Mr. Wise) And did you have a conversation with a brother of Mr. Richardson who lived at the time in California?

A. (By Mr. Young): I think that is a brother who changed his name or .

Q. That’s correct.

A. I believe I did.

App. at 665, ll 13-19.

Mr. Young knew enough to know that Mr. Richardson’s brother had changed his name.

Obviously he was aware of Mr. Huge as a potential witness.

The State argues that Michelle Richardson, Mr. Richardson's sister, was "adamant that she wasn't able to come." Br. of Pet. At 8; App. 657, ll 11-2. From the entire testimony, this obviously refers only to her not being able to come because the trial was changed. Ms. Richardson testified she was planning on coming to testify until the date was moved up. She testified no one ever told her the date had been moved up. In fact, her testimony was that no lawyer or investigator ever contacted her. App. at 725, l 21 to 726, l 19. When the date was changed at the last minute, trial counsel did not request a continuance to enable her to testify. App. at 664, ll 5-9. The trial transcript does not show any request for continuance was made by defense counsel in order to obtain the testimony of this alibi witness.

The PCR Judge heard the testimony of the witnesses. He reviewed the exhibits introduced by Mr. Richardson. He read the transcript of the trial. He was in the position to observe the witnesses who testified and make a determination as to whether they could have had an impact on the jury verdict. He concluded, "[T]here is a reasonable probability that the result in the murder trial would have been different if the witnesses had testified and the exhibit presented." App. at 743. The record in this case is not devoid of any evidence to support this conclusion. In fact, having observed the witness demeanor during their testimony, the record more than supports the factual findings of the Post Conviction Relief judge.

The State's reliance upon *Bergmann v. McCaughtry*, 65 F.3d 1372, 1380 (7th Cir. 1995) is misplaced. The Court said:

Bergmann's counsel testified that he decided not to call William Scott to testify about the guns because William Scott failed to mention the guns at a preliminary hearing. William Scott had

further testified at the preliminary hearing that Bergmann left the house at a time which was consistent with Trawitzki's version of events. Counsel decided that in light of the preliminary hearing, William Scott could be a "dangerous" witness for Bergmann, and he therefore declined to call him. Such a considered decision is also well within the realm of sound trial strategy. *Id.* at 1380.

No such rational trial strategy was presented in this case. The case hardly supports the blanket proposition that "trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call family members who would easily have been impeached for bias." Pet. of Resp. at 14-15. To so hold would mean that no trial counsel would ever be ineffective for failing to call a family member as a witness. Such a blanket finding is not sound.

Nor is *McCauley-Bey v. Delo*, 97 F.3d 1104, 1106 (8th Cir.1996) helpful to the State. The Eighth Circuit said:

McCauley-Bey's three uncalled witnesses were all subject to impeachment. Neither James Massey, Tyrone Mitchell, nor Eva Washington came forward promptly. James Massey could have been impeached with a prior assault conviction. Tyrone Mitchell was the brother of McCauley-Bey's girlfriend, Sharon Mitchell. Further, Tyrone Mitchell's ability to observe could have been challenged. Initially, based on his testimony at the evidentiary hearing, Mitchell would have testified at trial that he saw the shooting, that he saw McCauley-Bey and Sharon Mitchell running from the shooting, and that he was ducking during the shooting. In addition, details of Tyrone Mitchell's account are not consistent with the testimony of other witnesses who testified that the shooting took place at night with the shooter firing into the van while standing between a truck and the van. By contrast, Mitchell would have stated that the shooting took place at dusk and that he saw no truck. Mitchell was approximately three blocks away from the shooting; if the truck was there, it likely would have blocked Mitchell's view. *Id.* at 1106

No such impeachment existed against the witnesses in this case. Here the PCR judge specifically noted that the witnesses had not been impeached and they held responsible

positions. In fact Ernest Richardson submitted an affidavit dated August 9, 2013, well before the January 22, 2014. Supp. App. at 1. The affidavit was submitted in a request for a continuance during the previous PCR term of Court for Lexington County. If there were material to impeach Mr. Richardson's witnesses, the State had time to locate it. The testimony of the witnesses was consistent that Mr. Richardson had been in New York before the shooting and was in New York after the shooting. No witnesses testified that Mr. Richardson left New York at any time during the week-end of the shooting.

In *Romero v. Tansy*, 46 F.3d 1024, 1029 (10th Cir. 1995) the importance of any alibi testimony was undercut by the defendant's own statements to his attorney. The Court found "Importantly, James [trial counsel] further testified that appellant told him that Ms. Montoya could not identify him because he was wearing a hat and sunglasses and because she could not see very well. James inferred from this statement that appellant was at the crime scene and probably committed the robbery." *Id.* at 1029.

As noted by the PCR Judge, this case is controlled by *Walker v. State*, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014). In that case South Carolina Supreme Court said:

That testimony provides evidence supporting the PCR court's conclusion that Reed offered alibi testimony that reasonably could have resulted in a different outcome at trial. If true and construed as meaning at least that Walker and Reed spent every night together on the weekends prior to his arrest, it would be physically impossible for Walker to have committed the kidnapping and assaults. *Id.* at 406, 756 S.E.2d at 147.

Here, the witnesses offered testimony that reasonably could have resulted in a different outcome. The PCR Judge, as in *Walker*, found the witnesses credible and therefore the record contained ample evidence to support the decision of the PCR court.

The State, in trying to make the facts of this case fit into the principles of *Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 458 S.E.2d 538 (1995), is attempting to fit the proverbial square peg into a round hole. In *Glover* the crime occurred about 8:30 pm in Williamsburg County. The alibi witness placed Mr. Glover in Florida between 8:00 to 8:30 am. The witness lived only about six and a half hours from Williamsburg County, as noted by this Court in footnote 1. In this case, using Google Earth, the distance from Brooklyn, NY, where Mr. Richardson was, and Meadowlark Rd, in Chapin, SC, where the shooting occurred is 740 miles.¹ The ability for Mr. Richardson to be at a party in Brooklyn, NY on the afternoon of the day of the shooting and then leave and arrive in Chapin, SC in time for a 1:30 to 2:00 am shooting has not been shown by the State. The witnesses testified he was in Brooklyn the next day also. As Mr. Richardson was in Brooklyn, NY the day of the shooting, the witnesses did in fact provide him with an alibi. To hold that Mr. Richardson could have hopped an after midnight flight, flown to Columbia, made it to the club where the shooting occurred and hopped another flight back to New York without any family member knowing he had left New York, frankly stretches credibility to the breaking point.

The failure to call other family members was also prejudicial to Mr. Richardson because his mother testified other family members were present. App. at 474, ll 9-17. The jury could easily have raised the question of why the other family members did not testify. There was no attempt to explain why they were not present.

The State has argued, “Trial Counsel would have to be clairvoyant to be aware of the existence of the photographs.” Br. of Pet. at 16. All trial counsel had to do is simply ask if there

¹ The South Carolina Supreme Court took judicial notice of the distance between Gary, TN and Johnson City, TN in *State v. Arnold*, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004), n. 3.

were pictures as part of his investigation. Asking about pictures at a birthday party is hardly being “clairvoyant.” Asking for pictures at a birthday party is simply being a competent trial lawyer properly investigating the case he has. Mr. Richardson testified he had never thought about picture until he was asked in preparation for the PCR. App. at 705, ll 2-9.

The State had made an issue of the fact that Mr. Richardson had dread locks at the time of trial and did not have them in the picture. Br. of Pet. at 9. This trial was not held until some four years and eight months after the crime. What relevance would a change in hair style have after that much time had elapsed. There was no testimony that made dread locks relevant to any issue in the trial. It is simply a non-issue.

The State concedes that Mr. Richardson told his trial counsel that he had gone to New York well before the shooting to attend the funeral of a close friend. Counsel did not need to be clairvoyant to obtain a copy of the funeral program to introduce at trial. Apparently trial counsel concluded it was not important.

Overwhelming Evidence of Guilt

As the South Carolina Supreme Court has said, “In rare cases, using ‘overwhelming evidence’ as a categorical bar to preclude a finding of prejudice is not error.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 190, 810 S.E.2d 836, 844 (2018). The standard for such a case is described as, “[F]or the evidence to be ‘overwhelming’ such that it categorically precludes a finding of prejudice . . . evidence must include something conclusive, such as a confession, DNA evidence demonstrating guilt, or a combination of physical and corroborating evidence so strong that the *Strickland* standard of ‘a reasonable probability . . . the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt’ cannot possibly be met.” *Id.* at 191, 810 S.E.2d at 845. This case is not one of those rare

cases. The evidence in this case was not overwhelming. In fact, during the deliberations, the jury advised the Court they could not reach a verdict. App. at 519. They requested additional statements if they were available. App. at 518. They deliberated from 10:36 am until 4:14 pm. In addition, one of the key witness for the State, Kirby Blooker, testified he knew Willie Richardson, but did not tell the officers when he was interviewed that he knew Mr. Richardson. App. at 437, l 19. There was no DNA in this case. There were no fingerprints. Except for the testimony of a jailhouse informant, there was no confession.² The police interviewed the girl friend of Willie Richardson and found the automobile seen at the crime scene was at the house where she was staying. App. at 317, l 2 to 318, l 23. Mr. Richardson was not there. They never asked her where she was the night of the incident. Shortly after the shooting, she vanished. App. at 322, l 23 to 323, l 7.

The only evidence against Mr. Richardson was eye witnesses who gave very vague and general descriptions the night of the incident. They also arrested Mr. Richardson in New York which in a sense actually helped to confirm his alibi. App. at 323, ll 8-12. The State never produced any evidence that Mr. Richardson went to New York on the day of or anytime after the shooting. They knew he was in New York because they arrested him there. Any reasonable investigation would have included an investigation of flights out of Columbia to determine if Mr.

² “The use of jailhouse informants to obtain information from defendants represented by counsel is problematic for a number of reasons. As noted by the United States Supreme Court, the jailhouse is an unusual environment where a sense of camaraderie can mask real interests, where defendants may be particularly vulnerable, and where scheming and bravado are higher on the hierarchy of values than reporting the truth” *State v. Marshall*, 882 N.W.2d 68, 81 (Iowa 2016); “Jailhouse snitch testimony is arguably the single most unreliable type of evidence currently used in criminal trials.” Russell D. Covey, *Abolishing Jailhouse Snitch Testimony*, 49 WAKE FOREST L. REV. 1375 (2014)

Richardson was on one. They did not so investigate.

Serious and substantial evidence in this case shows that Mr. Richardson went to New York well before the shooting to attend the funeral of a friend. The State in its investigation never produced a single record to show Mr. Richardson ever came back other than when they arrested him after the shooting. In August of 1995, the evidence should have been relatively easy to find. Serious and substantial testimony was presented at the Post Conviction Relief hearing that Mr. Richardson never left New York after his arrival before the shooting. All of the witnesses had a reason to remember Mr. Richardson being in New York as on Sunday after the shooting they were told that Mr. Richardson was wanted in a shooting in South Carolina. They all knew he could not have committed the murder. The Post Conviction Relief judge, having watched the witnesses testify and upon reviewing the exhibits, concluded that there was in fact a reasonable probability that the result would have been different.

The State argues the alibi witnesses were relatives and, therefore, would not be believable. The State is simply arguing the facts at the Post Conviction Relief Hearing were not sufficient. They also argue that the additional witnesses were merely cumulative. The Post Conviction Relief judge found as a fact that while to some extent they might have been cumulative, the pictures certainly were not cumulative. The judge considered all the facts, as he should, and concluded the result would probably have been different. The factual findings by the judge cannot be reversed by this Court unless there are no facts upon which the judge could have made such a finding. "We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them." *Smalls* at 180, 810 S.E.2d at 839. The evidence in the record supports the factual findings of the Post Conviction Relief judge.

CONCLUSION

Ample evidence exists in the record in this case to support the factual findings of the Post Conviction Relief Judge. The evidence certainly exceeds the “any evidence” standard of review in a Post Conviction Relief case. Nor did the Post Conviction Relief Judge make any error of law in his opinion that would be reviewed de novo by this Court. This Court should, therefore, affirm the decision of the Post Conviction Relief judge and give Willie Richardson a new trial..

July 26, 2019



C. Rauch Wise
305 Main St.
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
rauchwise@gmail.com
S. C. Bar No 06188